THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

RECEIVED

APPEAL FROM BEAUFORT COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

SEP 02 2020

Carmen T. Mullen, Circuit Court Judge

SC Court of Appeals

Case No.: 2019-002038

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR IN FINDING THAT BULL POINT SC, LLC IS NOT THE PROPER “DECLARANT” OF BULL POINT PLANTATION?
- II. DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR IN FINDING THAT THE DECLARANT OF BULL POINT PLANTATION DOES NOT HAVE THE RIGHT TO APPOINT THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF THE PROPERTY OWNERS ASSOCIATION?
- III. DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR IN ORDERING INJUNCTIVE RELIEF THAT WAS NOT THE SUBJECT OF THE MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT OR ADDRESSED AT THE UNDERLYING HEARING?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This appeal addresses the trial court's order granting Respondents' Motion for Partial Summary Judgment on November 18, 2019. (Order dated November 18, 2019, ROA, 630).

The underlying matter involves Bull Point Plantation, which is a residential development in Beaufort County, South Carolina that was established in 1995. Bull Point Plantation operates through its Declaration of Covenants, Conditions, and Restrictions (the "Declaration"), which invests certain rights in the "Declarant" or developer of Bull Point Plantation, and also invests certain duties in a property owners association (the "Association").¹ To date, approximately 250 lots have been developed through the first six phases of development at Bull Point Plantation. There is an additional seventh phase of over 156 acres that may be included in the development, and which has been permitted for approximately 45 additional lots.

Appellant Bull Point SC, LLC, obtained Declarant Rights by assignment on or about August 21, 2017. It currently owns property in the development, including the entirety of the seventh phase, as well as several additional lots within the other phases. Other Appellants are individuals who were former members of the Board of Directors of the Association from 2017 to 2019.

Respondents are a minority of property owners within the development, most of whom were part of a corporation known as "Huspah Properties, LLC," which was formed to purchase and/or seize the Declarant Rights (or "Declarancy") of the development. (Receipt for Purchase of Shares, ROA, 371).

¹ The history of the homeowners association is convoluted and has used many names. At times relevant to this appeal, the putative homeowners association operated under the name "Bull Point Plantation Property Owners Association, Inc." or "BPPPOA."

Amended Complaint), it also granted judgment on the following matters which were not the subject of Respondents' motion or argued at the hearing:

1. First Cause of Action – the trial court granted a declaratory judgment holding that Appellants did not have the authority to eliminate the Fifteenth Amendment to the Declaration regarding the Contingency Fund, and ordered that Appellants immediately relinquish control of the Contingency Fund.
2. Second Cause of Action – the trial court granted injunctive relief regarding the contingency fund that exceeded even the relief requested in the Second Cause of Action as stated in the Amended Complaint, ordering that Appellants “are enjoined from serving on the POA’s Board of Directors (unless elected by the POA members); [Appellants] are enjoined from taking any actions in further governance of the POA, including scheduling of an Annual Meeting or issuance of a Proposed Budget for 2020; [Appellants] are enjoined from occupying the offices in the POA clubhouse, and they must vacate the clubhouse offices within 24 hours of the entry of this Order; [Appellants] are enjoined from exercising any control over the POA funds.”
3. Seventh and Eighth Causes of Action – although Respondents neither referenced these causes of action in their motion or at the hearing, the trial court granted judgment as to both, rescinding the Eighteenth Amendment and reinstating the Fifteenth Amendment to the Declaration.
4. Further, although not raised by Respondents in their motion or at the hearing, the trial court order took further measures against Appellants, ordering that “[i]mmediately upon the [Respondents] notifying [Appellants] of the appointment of the interim Board of Directors, the [Appellants] shall turn over possession of: (a) the clubhouse offices and all property and records (both physical and electronic) located therein, including but not limited to cellular telephones and keys belonging to the POA; (b) all POA check books, credit cards, debit cards, financial records (both physical and electronic). At the same time, [Appellants] shall sign over to the interim Board all authority and control of all POA financial accounts and provide the interim Board all log-in credentials for all accounts as well as those needed to access the POA’s computers.”

(Trial Court Order, November 18, 2019, pp. 18-20, ROA 647-649).

On November 21, 2019, Appellants filed their Motion to Alter or Amend Judgment under Rule 59(e), SCRCP. Following a hearing conducted on December 5, 2019, the trial court denied the motion on that same day. (Order Denying Motion, ROA 762).

Appellants filed a Notice of Appeal on December 10, 2019, which was served on the same day. Per direction of this Court of Appeals, an Amended Notice of Appeal was filed and served on December 17, 2019. (Notice of Appeal and Amended Notice of Appeal, ROA 765 and 768).

Appellants now timely file this Initial Brief of Appellants.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

I. Bull Point’s Founding Documents and Identification of the Declarant.

Since its founding in 1995, the Bull Point development has been governed by three documents (the “Governing Documents”).

First, Stancel E. Kirkland executed the Articles of Incorporation of the BPPPOA – then called the Bull Point Homeowners Association, Inc. – through a two-page form filed with the S.C. Secretary of State on September 26, 1995. Kirkland also filed three “associated” pages with the two-page form. (Articles of Incorporation and associated documents, ROA 388).

Second, the Articles of Incorporation expressly incorporate the Declaration as “applicable to the property recorded or to be recorded in the RMC Office for Beaufort County and as the same may be amended from time to time as herein, **said Declaration being incorporated herein as if set forth verbatim...**” (ROA 390) (emphasis added). As a consequence, the “Declaration” and its Amendments are fully a part of the Articles of Incorporation “**as if set forth verbatim...**”. The Declaration has been amended on a number of occasions since 1995, including the Ninth Amendment recorded on February 4, 2000, which restated the Declaration.³ Notably, the Declaration – fully a part of the Articles of Incorporation – states in Section 8.02 as follows:

The duties and powers of the Association that shall be those set forth in the provisions of the South Carolina Code relating to non-profit corporations, this Declaration, the By-Laws, and the Articles, together with those reasonably implied

³ Respondents rely on the Declaration as articulated on February 4, 2000. (Declaration, ROA, 393).

to effect the purposes of the Association; provided, however, that **if there are conflicts or inconsistencies among the South Carolina Code, this Declaration, the By-Laws, or the Articles, the provisions of the South Carolina Code, this Declaration, the By-Laws, and the Articles, in that Order, shall prevail**, and each Owner of a Lot or Dwelling by acceptance of a deed or other conveyance thereof, covenants to vote in favor of such amendments as will remove such conflicts or inconsistencies.

(emphasis added).

Third, the By-Laws of the BPPPOA were executed on September 26, 1995. (By-Laws, ROA, 439). The By-Laws provide that, “in the event of a conflict between the By-Laws and the Declaration of Covenants and Restrictions for the Bull Point Property, then the terms of the Declaration of Covenants and restrictions shall control.” (ROA, 448).

The Declaration identified Bull Point, LLC as the “Declarant,” and did so in several provisions, including the preamble as well as Section 1.01(j), which includes a definition of “Declarant.”⁴ The Declaration also references a Declarant’s “assigns” in numerous provisions:

- Preamble – the Declaration states that “shall touch and concern and run with the title to the real property subjected to this Declaration and shall be binding on **all parties** having any right, title or interest in the above described properties or any portion thereof, and their respective heirs, successors, successors-in-title, and **assigns...**”
- Property Rights – 3.04 (Access) – “There is reserved unto **Declarant**, the Association, and their respective successors **and assigns** the right and privilege...”
- Property Rights – 3.07 (Easements for Utilities) – “There is hereby reserved for the benefit of **Declarant**, the Association, and their respective successors **and assigns...**”
- Property Rights – 3.09 (Sales Construction Offices and Temporary Residential and Maintenance Buildings) – “[T]here is hereby reserved for the benefit of **Declarant** and its successors **and assigns...**”

⁴ S.C. Code Ann. § 30-27-320(3) defines “Declarant” as a person or group of persons acting in concert who...reserve or succeed to a special declarant right, which means a right created under the declaration or bylaws for the person or group to exercise authority in addition to regular declarant rights in a unit of real property.”

- Property Rights – 3.10 (Easements for Additional Property) – “[T]here is hereby reserved for **Declarant**, and its successors, **assigns**, and successors-in-title to the additional Property...”
- Property Rights – 3.11 (Maintenance Easement) – “Subject to the terms of Section 5.02 (b) hereof, there is hereby reserved for the benefit of **Declarant**, the Association, and their respective agents, employees, successors, and **assigns**,...”
- Property Rights – 3.12 (Environmental Easement) – “There is hereby reserved for the benefit of **Declarant**, the Association, and their respective agents, employees, successors, and **assigns**,...”
- Property Rights – 3.13 (Wells and Effluent) – “There is hereby reserved for the benefit of **Declarant**, the Association and their respective affiliates, agents, employees, successors and **assigns**,...”
- Property Rights – 3.16 (Easements for Walks, Trails and Signs) – “There is hereby reserved for the benefit of **Declarant**, the Association, and their respective successors and **assigns**,...”
- Architectural Standards and Use Restrictions – 10.10 (Signs) – “Notwithstanding the foregoing, the restrictions of this Section 10.10 shall not apply to **Declarant or its assigns**.”
- General Provisions – 13.05 (Duration) – “The provisions of this Declaration shall run with and bind title to the Property, shall be binding up and inure to the benefit of all **Owners** [including **Declarant**] and Mortgagees and their respective heirs, executors, legal representatives, successors, and **assigns**, and shall be and remain in effect for a period of thirty (30) years from and after the date of the recording of this Declaration, provided that right and easements which are stated herein to have a longer duration shall have such longer duration. Upon the expiration of said thirty (30) year period, this Declaration shall be automatically renewed for successive ten (10) year period.”
- General Provisions – 13.12 (No Trespass) – “Whenever the Association, **Declarant**, the Architectural Review Board, and their respective successors, **assigns**, agents or employees...”

(Declaration, ROA, 394) (emphasis added).

II. **Transfer of Rights of Declarant to Bull Point.**

The original Declarant, Bull Point, LLC, lost most of their interest – but not their entire interest – in Bull Point in 2012. Since that time, the Rights of the Declarant have passed several times by assignment.

- DB Aster, LLC acquired certain property in the Bull Point development from Bull Point, LLC on February 2, 2012. (ROA, 255-271).⁵
- Later, on December 28, 2012, Bull Point, LLC transferred the Declarant Rights by assignment to DB Aster, LLC. (Assignment to DB Aster, ROA, 273 and 504).
- Following a sale of certain property in the Bull Point development from DB Aster, LLC to GSI, LLC in August 2017, DB Aster, LLC assigned Declarant Rights to GSI, LLC on August 18, 2017. (Assignment to GSI, LLC, ROA, 278-293 and 509).
- Thereafter, on August 21, 2017, GSI, LLC assigned the Declarant Rights to Bull Point SC, LLC. (Assignment to Bull Point, SC, LLC, ROA, 522).

Indeed, the minutes of the Board of Directors Meeting of the Bull Point Property Owners Association on February 1, 2013, which were prepared by Respondent Russell Dimke, affirmatively acknowledge that the “**Declarant Rights as specified in the Bull Point Plantation Covenants have now been legally transferred from Bull Point LLC to DB Aster, LLC.**” This transfer was accomplished by an assignment of Declarant Rights from Bull Point, LLC to DB Aster, LLC. (ROA, 273) (emphasis added).

III. **Respondents’ Admissions Regarding Bull Point SC, LLC as the “Declarant.”**

Indeed, several of the Respondents have already admitted – by sworn affidavit previously filed in this action – that Bull Point SC, LLC is the Declarant.

- Respondent Russell Dimke identified Bull Point SC, LLC as the “developer and Declarant of Bull Point POA...” and attested that “Mr. Gavigan became the new developer/Declarant and took over control of the POA Board.” Dimke also attested under oath that “[a]s managing member of the developer/Declarant, Bull Point SC,

⁵ The last page of this document is actually the first page of the document. Exhibit was filed in lower court with page out of order.

LLC, Mr. Gavigan has control over the POA Board, including the power to appoint and remove any member or members of Board of Directors and/or any other officers of the Association.” (Affidavit of Russell G. Dimke, ¶¶ 6, 11, and 15, ROA, 526).

- In his sworn affidavit, Respondent Gary Okey represented that he resigned shortly after “William Gavigan and Bull Point SC, LLC took over as Declarant.” (Affidavit of Gary Okey, ¶ 5, ROA, 533).
- In his sworn affidavit, Respondent Peter W. Marzluff specifically identifies the Declarant as Bull Point SC, LLC. (Affidavit of Peter W. Marzluff, ¶ 8, ROA, 536).

IV. Respondents’ Previous Attempts to Purchase Declarant Rights.

This lawsuit, and others like it that have recently been filed, are a part of an effort by many of the Respondents to obtain control of the “Declarant Rights” of the development. In fact, almost all of the Respondents formed a corporation in 2017 called “Huspah Properties, LLC” with the stated intent to purchase and/or seize the Declarant Rights (or “Declarancy”) of the development. Most notably, the “Receipt for Purchase of Share(s)” in Huspah Properties, LLC actually states that “the principal purpose of the Company is to purchase the Declarency [*sic*] for the Development known as Bull Point Plantation located in Seabrook, South Carolina.” (“Receipt for Purchase of Share(s),” ROA, 371) (emphasis added).⁶

With remarkable clarity, members of this group actually memorialized their plan in a memorandum dated April 27, 2017, which was then circulated among the conspirators by e-mail on April 28, 2017. (“Current Situation” Memorandum, ROA, 375). In their memorandum, their stated goal was to purchase the Declarant Rights from DB Aster, LLC, the then-Declarant of Bull Point Plantation, by using money taken from the BPPPOA’s “contingency fund” for their own

⁶ Given Respondents’ previous attempt to obtain Declarant Rights by purchase – and assignment – their current argument that Declarant Rights can only be transferred by foreclosure appears particularly disingenuous.

private purposes. Failing that, the conspirators “could enter into extended/constant litigation to attempt to enforce the current covenant and rules & regulations.” The conspirators acknowledged to themselves that their scheme of “[o]n-going lawsuits would drive away potential property/home buyers and depress property values during the period of litigations [sic]. It might be hard to get widespread participation by the homeowners and money for legal expenses.” (ROA, 378) (emphasis added).

V. **The Factual Record Related to Appointment of Members of the Board of Directors.**

Regarding election, designation, and appointment of directors, South Carolina’s Non-Profit Corporation Act provides as follows:

If the corporation has members entitled to vote for directors, all the directors, except the initial directors, must be elected at the first annual meeting of members, and at each annual meeting thereafter, **unless the articles or bylaws provide some other time or method of election, or provide that some of the directors are appointed by some other person or designated.**

S.C. Code Ann. § 33-31-804(a) (emphasis added).

In this case, the Association’s Articles of Incorporation specifically incorporate the Declaration. In turn, regarding the Declarant’s right to appoint and remove the Association’s Directors and Officers, the Declaration clearly provides as follows:

- General Provisions – 13.01 (Control by Declarant) – the Declaration provides that “NOTWITHSTANDING ANY OTHER LANGUAGE OR PROVISION TO THE CONTRARY IN THIS DECLARATION, IN THE ARTICLES OF INCORPORATION, OR IN THE BY-LAWS OF THE ASSOCIATION, **Declarant hereby retains the right to appoint and remove any member or members of the Board of Directors of the Association by and for the term set forth in Section 8.01 hereof. Every grantee⁷ of any interest in the Development, by acceptance of a deed or other conveyance of such interest, agrees that Declarant shall have the authority to appoint and remove directors and officers of the Association in accordance with the foregoing provisions of this Section 13.01 and the provisions of Section 8.01.**”

⁷ Obviously, this includes all parties in this action.

- Administration – 8.01 (Common Areas) – Declarant shall have the right to appoint or remove any member or members of the Board of Directors or any officer or officers of the Association until such time as the first of the following events shall occur: (i) the expiration of twenty-five (25) years after the date of the recording of this Declaration; or (ii) the surrender by Declarant of the authority to appoint and remove directors and officers of the Association by an express amendment to this Declaration executed and recorded by Declarant. Each Owner, by acceptance of a deed to or other conveyance of a Lot vests in Declarant such authority to appoint and remove directors and officers of the Association as provided by this Section 8.01 and by Section 12.01 hereof.

(Declaration, ROA, 394) (emphasis added).

Furthermore, for over twenty years, the Declarant of the Bull Point Plantation development has appointed Board members of the BPPPOA, or have permitted the members to elect no more than one voting member of the Board. Indeed, in their memorandum of April 27, 2017, Respondents admit as follows:

There is nothing in the Covenants or Amendments spelling out how the property owners elect 1 voting POA Board member and the Declarant appoints 2 others – thus controlling the Board. This seems to have just been permitted by the Declarant (Bull Point LLC) and followed since that time without any change in the Covenants.

The Covenants say that for 25 years the Declarant has the power “to appoint and remove all POA Board members.”

(Memorandum dated April 27, 2017, ROA, 379) (emphasis in the original).

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The questions before this Court in this appeal are questions of law, which are reviewed *de novo*. “It is a question of law for the court whether the language of a contract is ambiguous.” *S.C. Dep’t of Nat. Res. v. Town of McClellanville*, 345 S.C. 617, 623, 550 S.E.2d 299, 302-03 (2001) The interpretation of an unambiguous contract is also question of law. *McCord v. Laurens Cty.*

Health Care Sys., 429 S.C. 286, 292, 838 S.E.2d 220, 223 (S.C. App. 2020) (“Ambiguity of a contract is a question of law, which we review *de novo*.”).

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