THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Court of Appeals

RECEIVED

Sep 02 2020

APPEAL FROM BEAUFORT COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

Honorable Carmen Mullen, Circuit Court Judge

SC Court of Appeals

Appellate Case No. 2019-002038

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

The Declaration's limitation on the assignment of the key Declarant rights is undoubtedly intentional. The original developer would have expected to see the development of Bull Point Plantation through to maturity and then hand control over to the property owners. Yet, its lender would require the ability to acquire control of the development if it had to foreclose on its mortgage. Thus, the Declaration allows a foreclosing lender – but nobody else – to succeed to the Declarancy. The developer would not have wanted to subject future Bull Point Plantation property owners to what happened here, a real estate speculator seizing control of the property owners' association and using its money to fund its development efforts.

Defendants attempt to overcome their inability to meet the definition of Declarant contained in Section 1.01(j) of the Declaration by pointing to other parts of the Declaration which make reference to the Declarant's "assigns." Defendants argue that, because the Declaration includes the word "assigns" at various places, the Declarant rights must be freely assignable despite what Section 1.01(j) says. But the Declarant rights are not freely assignable. They are assignable only if the other terms of the Declaration are strictly complied with. "Restrictive covenants<sup>4</sup> are contractual in nature. Hoffman v. Cohen, 262 S.C. 71, 75, 202 S.E.2d 363, 365 (1974). The language of a restrictive covenant is to be construed according to the plain and ordinary meaning attributed to it at the time of execution." Hardy v. Aiken, 631 S.E.2d 539, 369 S.C. 160 (S.C. 2006). The transferability of Declarant's rights depends on whether the Declarations make them transferable.

Highlands Prop. Owners Ass'n, Inc. v. Shumaker Land, LLC, 397 S.C. 432, 724 S.E.2d 685 (Ct. App. 2012) is directly on point. Like this case, Highlands involved a dispute between property owners and a developer hinging on whether the developer was in fact the Declarant. In

---

<sup>4</sup> The Declarations are, of course, covenants. Their full title is "Declaration of Covenants, Conditions and Restrictions of Bull Point Plantation."

deciding this issue, the Court of Appeals looked to the language of the association's declarations and the definition of "Declarant", which was as follows:

"Declarant" shall mean and refer to HIGHLANDS DEVELOPMENT LIMITED PARTNERSHIP, or any other person or entity who succeeds to the title of Declarant to any portion of the Properties by sale or assignment of all of the interests of the Declarant in the Properties, *if the instrument of sale or assignment expressly so provides...*

397 S.C. at 437, 724 S.E.2d at 687 (emphasis by the Court). The developer/putative Declarant had acquired certain lots from the prior Declarant through a deed that did not refer to or assign the Declarant rights. The transfer of Declarant rights occurred fourteen months later through a separate assignment document. The association members, pointing to the fact that the deed did not expressly provide for a transfer of Declarant rights, took the position that the developer/putative Declarant was in fact not the Declarant under the definition in the declarations. This is exactly the situation here. In applying the above definition, the Highlands Court recognized the issue as one of contract law:

"The law in this state regarding the construction and interpretation of contracts is well settled." Conner v. Alvarez, 285 S.C. 97, 101, 328 S.E.2d 334, 336 (1985). When the language of a contract is clear, explicit, and unambiguous, the language of the contract alone determines the contract's force and effect. Ellie, Inc. v. Miccichi, 358 S.C. 78, 93, 594 S.E.2d 485, 493 (Ct. App. 2004). In addition, "[w]here an agreement is clear and capable of legal interpretation, the court's only function is to interpret its lawful meaning, discover the intention of the parties as found within the agreement, and give effect to it." Id. (citing Heins v. Heins, 344 S.C. 146, 158, 543 S.E.2d 224, 230 (Ct. App. 2001)).

397 S.C. at 437, 724 S.E.2d at 687. In applying the above principles, the Court first found the definition of "Declarant" to be unambiguous. The Court then went on to apply the definition of Declarant, looking to the plain language of the definition:

We find the Covenants, when read in their entirety, support a finding that Shumaker LLC is not the Declarant. As noted previously, Article I, Section 7 of the Covenants defines Declarant as the "HIGHLANDS DEVELOPMENT LIMITED PARTNERSHIP, or any other person or entity who succeeds to the title of

Declarant . . . by sale or assignment of all of the interests of the Declarant in the Properties, *if the instrument of sale or assignment expressly so provides.*” [emphasis by the Court]. HDLP, as the original Declarant under the Covenants, conveyed the property to Shumaker on July 28, 2006. The deed to Shumaker does not reference any rights held by HDLP as Declarant, nor does the deed purport to transfer any of those rights to Shumaker. Because the deed does not expressly convey the Declarant’s rights to Shumaker upon taking title to the seven lots, Shumaker does not qualify as a Declarant under Article I, Section 7 of the Covenants.

397 S.C. at 437, 724 S.E.2d at 688. In other words, the purported assignee of the Declarant rights was not the Declarant because the purported assignment agreement did not meet the requirements set out in the declaration’s definition of Declarant.

As the Highlands decision demonstrates, under South Carolina law the definition of “Declarant” must be strictly observed and all requirements for transfer of Declarant’s rights complied with. In this case, the definition requires that a successor: (1) Acquire the original Declarant’s entire interest and (2) do so by foreclosure. The Appellant Bull Point SC, LLC did not meet either of these requirements.

Returning to Defendants’ argument that the Declaration allows for the Declarant to have “assigns,” Respondents agree. Bull Point, LLC, or any other Declarant, can have assigns. The Declaration expressly identifies certain rights of the Declarant that are freely assignable. As just one example, Section 3.05 of the Declaration provides that “[d]uring the period that Declarant owns any Lot primarily for the purpose of sale or has the unexpired option to add the Additional Property or any portion thereof to the Development, *Declarant shall have an alienable and transferable right and easement on, over, through, under, and across the Common Areas for the purpose of construction Dwellings and other improvements . . . .*” (R. p. 401) (emphasis added). See also Section 3.07 (easements for utilities); Section 3.09 (maintenance of signs, sales offices, construction offices, etc.); Section 3.11 (maintenance easement); and Section 3.12 (environmental

easement); (R. pp. 402-404). Some Declarant rights, which are not at issue in this case, unquestionably are assignable by the Declaration's express terms. But the Declaration does not permit assignment of the rights that are at issue in this case, including the right to amend the Declaration and the right to appoint the directors of the Association. Only the Declarant can exercise these rights, and only if it meets the Declaration's definition of Declarant.

Defendants argue that Highlands Prop. Owners Ass'n v. Shumaker Land, LLC, is inapplicable because the definition of "Declarant" is different from this case. While that is correct, the relevant principle from the holding of Highlands is that one cannot be a Declarant unless one meets the definition of the Declarant contained in the governing documents, whatever that definition may be. Just like the purported declarant in Highlands, Bull Point SC, LLC does not meet the definition of a Declarant, so it is not and has never been the Declarant.

Instead of Highlands, Defendants believe Cullen v. McNeal, 390 S.C. 470, 483, 702 S.E.2d 378, 385 (S.C. App. 2010), *cert. dismissed as improvidently granted*, 411 S.C. 270, 768 S.E.2d 401 (2015) is controlling because it permitted assignment of declarant's rights. That decision is entirely consistent with Highlands, however. In Cullen, as it did in Highlands, the Court of Appeals looked to the definition of declarant (or "developer" in that case) contained in the declarations. In Cullen the definition of developer recognized two different ways that the developer's rights could be transferred. The definition of developer included either a successor-in-title or a successor-in-interest to the original developer. The Court of Appeals held that the putative developer qualified under the declaration's definition of developer even though it was not the successor-in-title, because it was the successor-in-interest by assignment. By contrast, the Declaration in this case provides only one way for a successor to acquire the Declarant's rights, and Bull Point SC LLC did not acquire the rights that way. The definition requires that a successor

acquire the original Declarant's entire interest by foreclosure. The Appellant Bull Point SC, LLC does not meet this requirement.

Even if the Declaration was ambiguous – which it isn't – the circuit court would have been right to construe it in favor of the homeowners, since the Declaration comprises restrictive covenants burdening the Association's members' properties. "A restriction on the use of property must be created in express terms or by plain and unmistakable implication, Edwards v. Surratt, 228 S.C. 512, 90 S.E.2d 906 (1956), and all such restrictions are to be strictly construed, with all doubts resolved in favor of the free use of the property. Davey v. Artistic Builders, Inc., 263 S.C. 431, 211 S.E.2d 235 (1975)." Hamilton v. CCM Inc. 263 S.E.2d 378, 274 S.C. 152 (1980). It would be odd indeed for governing documents to allow an outside investor to seize control of a more than twenty-year old property owners' association to the detriment of the homeowners who had built a mature, financially self-sufficient residential community.

Next, Defendants contend that Plaintiffs should be estopped to deny that Bull Point SC, LLC is the Declarant because some of the Plaintiffs submitted affidavits in this case in which they refer to Bull Point SC, LLC as the Declarant. These affidavits are not inconsistent with the position the Plaintiffs have taken from the outset of this litigation. In the original Complaint filed on December 3, 2018 – before the affidavits were submitted – the Respondents alleged, at paragraph 3, "Bull Point SC, LLC ('Declarant') is a separate Limited Liability Company incorporated under the laws of South Carolina and is currently the purported declarant of the Bull Point Plantation (although it does not meet the definition of Declarant under the Declarations)." The affidavits' references to Bull Point SC, LLC as the Declarant are consistent with the Plaintiffs' contention in this case that Bull Point SC, LLC was *claiming* to be the Declarant.

Plaintiffs also point to various past meeting minutes and other documents in which some of the Plaintiffs referred to the assignment of the Declarant's rights. However, those references were to DB Aster, not to Bull Point SC, LLC. DB Aster acted as the Declarant and was recognized as such. The question whether DB Aster was actually the Declarant is not before the court.

Finally, Defendants argue that because some of the Plaintiffs, through another entity, Huspah Properties, LLC, in the past attempted to purchase the Declarant rights from Bull Point, LLC, Plaintiffs must agree that the rights were and are assignable. It is true that in the wake of Bull Point LLC's bankruptcy, a number of Bull Point Plantation homeowners, including some of the Plaintiffs herein, investigated options for protecting the development from any developer who might not have the community's best interests in mind. One of the options they considered was to attempt to purchase the Declarant's rights. However, they never actually attempted to do so, and they do not allege in this litigation that they could have done so. Their past exploration of the feasibility of acquiring the Declarant rights should not estop them and the other Plaintiffs from requiring Defendants to comply with the Declaration.

Defendants also claim that Bull Point SC, LLC must be the Declarant because the Seventeenth Amendment to the Declaration identifies GSI, LLC as the Declarant and the Eighteenth Amendment memorializes the purported assignment of Declarant rights from GSI to Bull Point SC, LLC. This argument is circular, as these amendments were made by Defendants GSI and Bull Point SC, LLC, who claimed to be the Declarants at the time. They do not cure either entities' failure to meet the definition of Declarant.

This appeal concerns the assignability of the Declarant's control rights, including the rights to appoint the directors of the Association and to amend the Declaration. It is these rights that confer control over the Association and its money. The appeal does not concern the assignability

of Declarant rights such as access easements appurtenant to real property. As noted above, the Declaration's limitation on assignability of Declarant's control rights is not a mere technicality but was obviously intentional on the part of the original developer. The developer clearly did not intend for the Declarant's rights to be bought and sold as a commodity, which would threaten the very integrity of the Bull Point Plantation community. Indeed, the actions of Plaintiffs alleged in the Amended Complaint would exemplify the adverse consequences of freely assignable Declarant's rights.

For the foregoing reasons, Respondents request that this Court affirm the circuit court's ruling that Appellant Bull Point SC, LLC is not and never was the Declarant of Bull Point Plantation.

**IV. THE CIRCUIT COURT CORRECTLY RULED THAT, REGARDLESS OF WHO THE DECLARANT IS, THE ASSOCIATION'S MEMBERS HAVE ALWAYS HAD THE SOLE AUTHORITY TO ELECT ITS BOARD OF DIRECTORS**

Even if Appellant Bull Point SC, LLC were the Declarant, it does not have the power to appoint the Association's Board of Directors even though the Declaration appears at first blush to give it that right. That authority is exclusively held by the Association's members.

The South Carolina Nonprofit Corporations Act of 1994 S.C. Code Ann §33-31-10 *et seq* (the "Act") governs mutual benefit corporations including the Association. The Declaration provides – as it must -- that South Carolina law governs any conflicts in its interpretation. The Act in turn resolves conflicts among governing documents in favor of the articles of incorporation. Section 33-31-206 provides:

- (a) The incorporators or board of directors of a corporation shall adopt bylaws for the corporation.
- (b) The bylaws may contain any provision for regulating and managing the affairs of the corporation *that is not inconsistent with law or the articles of incorporation.*

The Code defines "bylaws" as any governing document other than the articles of incorporation:

“‘Bylaws’ means the code or codes of rules, other than the articles, adopted pursuant to this chapter for the regulation or management of the affairs of the corporation irrespective of the name or names by which the rules are designated.” S.C. Code Ann. §33-31-104(4). The Official Comments to §33-31-104 state, “The term ‘bylaws’ has a particularly expansive definition. The term refers to the code or codes of rules, other than the articles, adopted for regulation or management of corporate affairs regardless of the name by which such rules are designated.” Accordingly, Bull Point’s Declaration is one of its “bylaws” for purposes of the Act. The Act allows the Declarations to contain any provision for the operation of the Association that does not conflict with the law or with the Articles of Incorporation.

The Bull Point Plantation Declaration conflicts with the Articles of Incorporation in one important respect. The Articles of Incorporation provide for the election of the Board members by the members of the Association, whereas the Declaration purports to allow the Declarant, during the term of the Declarancy, to appoint and remove the members of the Board. As shown in the statement of Facts above, the Association’s Articles of Incorporation provide that its members shall elect its Board of Directors:

At the first annual meeting, the members shall elect one (1) Director for a term of one (1) year, one Director for a term of two (2) years and one (1) Director for a term of three (3) years. At each annual meeting thereafter, the members shall elect one (1) Director for a term of one (1) year.

This provision is inconsistent with the Declaration/Bylaws, which purport to allow the Declarant to appoint and remove members of the Board of Directors:

NOTWITHSTANDING ANY OTHER LANGUAGE OR PROVISION TO THE CONTRARY IN THIS DECLARATION, IN THE ARTICLES OF INCORPORATION, OR IN THE BY-LAWS OF THE ASSOCIATION, Declarant hereby retains to right to appoint and remove any member or members of the Board of Directors of the Association by and for the term set forth in Section 8.01 hereof.

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